2004

# Marion Snow and Roger Snow v. Richard A. Irion, M.D. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

UCA § 78-2a-3(2)(j) confers jurisdiction on this Court to decide this appeal.

## **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Did the district court correctly construe, interpret and apply the Utah Court of Appeals' decision in Medved v. Glenn, 2004 WL1065503 (Utah App.)?

This is a question of law, reviewable for "correctness." Drake v. Industrial Commission, 939 P.2d 177, 181 (Utah 1997); Trujillo v. Jenkins, 840 P.2d 777-778-79 (Utah 1992); State v. Montoya, 887 P.2d 857, 858 (Utah 1994); Billings v. Union Bankers Ins. Co., 918 P.2d 461, 464 (Utah 1996).

2. Did the Utah Court of Appeals in Medved v. Glenn, *supra*, correctly interpret, construe and apply the Utah Supreme Court's decision in Seale v. Gowans, 923 P.2d 1361 (Utah 1996)?

This is a question of law, reviewable for "correctness." Drake, *id.* ; Trujillo, *id.*, State, *id.*

**3. In Utah may a plaintiff maintain an action for increased risk of cancer recurrence when combined with a claim for actual present damages resulting from substandard medical care?**

This too is a question of law, reviewable for “correctness.” Sorensen v. Kennecott-Utah Copper Corp., 873 P.2d 1141, 1144 (Utah App. 1994); Broad Water v. Old Republic Sur., 854 P.2d 857, 834 N.3 (Utah 1993); Architectural Commission v. Kabatznick, 949 P.2d 776, 777 (Utah App. 1997); Roarke v. Crabtree, 893 P.2d 1058, 1061 (Utah 1995).

**4. Is an increased risk of recurrence of cancer actionable in Utah, regardless of whether combined with a claim of actual, present damage resulting from substandard medical care? If so, when does the statute of limitations begin to run on such a claim?**

This too is a question of law, reviewable for “correctness.”

Orton v. Carton, 970 P.2d 1254, 1256 (Utah 1998); Klinger v. Kightly, 791 P.2d 868, 870 (Utah 1990).



## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE<sup>1</sup>**

This is an appeal from the district court's grant of the defendant's motion to dismiss.

On June 18, 2002, Richard Irion, M.D. undertook to perform a vaginal hysterectomy on 62 year-old Marion Snow due to post-menopausal bleeding. (R.10) No ultrasound was performed prior to this surgery. (R.10). However, an ultrasound performed approximately two years earlier revealed an apparent cyst and endometrial thickening. (R.10). During the June 18, 2002 surgery, Dr. Irion came upon a large tumor which he mistook for a yellow mass. In attempting to remove it, he ruptured the tumor, spilling its contents into Mrs. Snow's peritoneal cavity. (R.10).

Dr. Irion failed to perform a wash of Mrs. Snow's peritoneal cavity to clean the area in which the ruptured tumor contents had spilled. (R.10-11). Following the surgery, he informed Mr. and Mrs. Snow that the tumor was benign. (R.11). That information was incorrect. Within two days of the surgery, Dr. Irion had learned from a pathology report that the tumor contained malignant cells. Although Dr. Irion knew the tumor contained malignant cells, he did not inform Mr. and Mrs. Snow of the cancerous nature of the tumor nor of the dangers incident to the spread of its malignant cells in her

---

<sup>1</sup> All references to the district court record shall be cited as "R. \_\_\_\_." Plaintiffs shall be referred to sometimes collectively as "Mrs. Snow" and sometimes as "the Snows." Defendant shall be referred to as "Dr. Irion."

body. (R.11). Due to the delay in the Snows' receiving word of the malignancy of the tumor, Mrs. Snow did not begin chemotherapy until over 90 days after the surgery in which the tumor was discovered. (R.11).

Following the cancer diagnosis, Mrs. Snow underwent extensive cancer treatment, including radiation and chemotherapy. (R.11). The oncological therapy has been accompanied by considerable trauma, illness and expense. Although the therapy appears to have been successful, Mrs. Snow remains at heightened risk of the cancer. (R.11).

The Snows' complaint alleges that their damages include the incurrence of significant medical and medical-related expenses, a loss of income, an impairment of earning capacity and a loss of consortium. The complaint also alleges a likelihood of cancer recurrence in Mrs. Snow, resulting in additional damages and a shortened life-span. (R.13-14).

Dr. Irion filed a Motion to Dismiss asserting that because Mrs. Snow has not yet suffered a recurrence of the cancer, she and her husband are unable, as a matter of law, to establish a legally cognizable injury to satisfy their *prima facie* claims of medical negligence against Dr. Irion. (R.28).

Based on its reading of the Court of Appeals' decision in Medved, the district court concluded that:

the Snows cannot pursue their possible later-developing damages, nor may they split their claims as they are seeking to do. Accordingly, dismissal, without prejudice is appropriate. Consequently, defendant's motion to dismiss is granted.

(R.92).

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

This Court's Medved decision misconstrues and is at variance with the Utah Supreme Court's decision in Seale v. Gowans, 923 P.2d 1361 (Utah 1996). Applying the Medved holding as interpreted by the district court to this case would work an unconscionable, unsupportable injustice. For the Medved decision to have any fairness in this case, it would have to be applied in a way that expressly allows the Snows to re-file at *any* time up to 2 years after Mrs. Snow's death regardless of whether her cancer recurs and/or kills her.

### **APPLICABLE STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The district court's decision to grant dismissal of Mrs. Snow's complaint without prejudice and all of its conclusions supporting that decision constitute rulings of law. The proper standard of review of those issues is "correctness,"

granting no deference to the district court's conclusions. See **ISSUES PRESENTED**, *supra*, and cases cited therein (pp. 1-2 , *supra*); See also White v. Deeselhurst, 879 P.2d 1371, 1373 (Utah 1994).

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I.**

#### **MRS. SNOW'S COMPLAINT AMPLY ALLEGES LEGALLY COGNIZABLE INJURIES SEPARATE FROM HER CLAIM OF HEIGHTENED RISK OF CANCER RECURRENCE.**

Dr. Irion declared in writing to the district court that: "the sole question before this Court is . . . whether plaintiffs' claim of increased risk is an actual present injury sufficient to sustain their claims of injury against Dr. Irion." (R.30). This is incorrect. The Snows' complaint alleges significant damages separate and apart from Mrs. Snow's claim of increased risk for cancer recurrence. It asserts, for example, that Dr. Irion's substandard medical care has already caused them: (a) loss of income and an impairment of earning capacity (R.14); (b) the incurrence of significant costs for medical care and related needs (R.14); and (c) "pain, grief, mental anguish, depression, emotional distress and loss of enjoyment of life" (R.13). Additional present damages not founded exclusively

upon Mrs. Snow's heightened risk of cancer recurrence are alleged in ¶¶27-29 of the Snows' Amended Complaint:

27. Plaintiff Marion Snow has suffered a significant permanent injury that has substantially changed her lifestyle, including incapacitating her to perform the types of activities and other functions which she performed before she was injured as a result of defendant's substandard medical care.
28. The activities and functions plaintiff Marion Snow can no longer perform or can no longer perform in the manner she previously performed them include, but are not limited to, household duties and spousal activities.
29. Plaintiffs have suffered a profound diminution in their quality of life. The injury to plaintiff Marion Snow complained of herein has significantly impacted her husband, plaintiff Roger Snow in varied and significant ways. Plaintiff Roger Snow is entitled, therefore, to recover loss of consortium damages as provided by Utah law.

(R.14-15).

In our system of pleading, it is the prerogative of the plaintiff, not the defendant, to declare what her claims and damages are. Here, the Snows claim Dr. Irion's substandard care has already caused them significant harm apart from Mrs. Snow's heightened risk of being further debilitated or killed by the cancer Dr. Irion caused to be spread in her body. They should not be precluded from

proving what they have pled.<sup>2</sup>

## II.

### **THIS COURT'S *MEDVED* DECISION, AS APPLIED BY THE DISTRICT COURT, MISCONSTRUES AND IS AT VARIANCE WITH THE UTAH SUPREME COURT'S DECISION IN *SEALE V. GOWANS* .**

In its memorandum decision herein, the district court quoted from this Court's *Medved* opinion and then stated: "Based upon the foregoing, it is clear that under the current state of the law, the Snows cannot pursue their possible later-developing damages. . . ." (R. 92). This conclusion is simply erroneous.

In *Seale*, our Supreme Court acknowledged that when a person suffers physical harm caused by another's negligence, she is entitled to recover

---

<sup>2</sup>In support of his motion to dismiss before the district court, Dr. Irion declared "the gravamen of plaintiff's claim . . . is that Dr. Irion failed to properly diagnose and advise Mrs. Snow of her cancer, and to refer her to an oncologist." (R.29). Dr. Irion's written argument to the district court then undertakes to instruct that court that "Dr. Irion did not cause Mrs. Snow's cancer." (R.30). Those assertions were both gratuitous and at variance with assertions plainly set forth in the Snows' operative pleading. The Snows' Complaint asserts that although Dr. Irion did not cause Mrs. Snow's tumor, he did cause the spread of its malignant cells throughout her body when he ruptured it, spilled its malignant cells into her peritoneal cavity and failed to perform an immediate wash of the area. (See ¶¶ 10 and 11 of Amended Complaint; (R.10-11).

damages not only for the harm already suffered, but also for that which will probably result in the future:

General tort law recognizes that when a person has suffered physical harm caused by the negligence of another, “he is entitled to recover damages not only for harm already suffered, but also for the which will probably result in the future.” Restatement (Second), of Torts §912 cmt. e (1979); Jackson v. Johns-Manville Sales Corp., 781 F.2d 394, 412 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1986). Indeed, most courts follow the general rule that once some injury become actionable, a plaintiff *must* plead all damages, both present and future, and cannot thereafter bring another action once future harm occurs. Gideon v. Johns-Manville Sales Corp., 761 F.2d 1120, 1136-37 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1985). . . .

(923 P.2d at 1364).

The district court apparently accepted Dr. Irion’s contention that this Court’s recent decision in Medved v. Glenn, 2004 WL 1065503 (Utah App.) holds that a plaintiff may not maintain an action to recover damages when part of the claim is an enhanced risk of cancer recurrence. To the extent this Court’s Medved decision so holds, it is in error and inconsistent with the actual holding of the Utah Supreme Court in Seale v. Gowans, 923 P.2d 1361 (Utah 1996).

The distinguishing fact in Seale v. Gowans was the apparent absence of an

allegation of present damage apart from a fear of cancer recurrence.<sup>3</sup> The simple holding in *Seale* was that “damages in the form of an enhanced risk only are not sufficient to start the running the statute of limitations.” (*Id.* at 1365). The Supreme Court considered several cases from other jurisdictions and found them distinguishable because in them “the plaintiffs had suffered actual damages in conjunction with the increased risk of the cancer’s recurrence.” (*Id.* at 1365). Our Supreme Court did *not* declare in *Seale* that a plaintiff may not recover damages for enhanced risk of cancer recurrence. It merely declared that if one has no damages until the recurrence of cancer, the statute does not begin to run against that claimant until the cancer recurs. There is nothing in *Seale* suggesting a claimant who has sustained an actual injury may not simultaneously pursue a claim for enhanced risk of future harm. On the contrary, our Supreme Court noted:

[C]urrent recovery for future harm is “based upon the probability that harm of one sort or another will ensue and upon its probable seriousness if it should ensue.”

---

<sup>3</sup> In the *Medved* case, the record shows (at R.179 -180 therein) that Mrs. Seale’s complaint in *Seale v. Gowans* sought damages for injuries likely to occur in the future. Her cancer did recur after she filed her complaint. Our Supreme Court in *Seale* actually found that the statute of limitations did not begin to run on Ms. Seale because of *the defendant’s* failure to prove “that in 1988 Ms. Seale could complain of any actual or present damages.” *Seale*, *id.* at 1364-65.



Restatement (Second) of Torts §912, cmt. e (1979). Many courts, following the Restatement approach, have adopted a “reasonable certain” standard, requiring that the plaintiffs prove that it is more likely than not that the projected consequence will occur. See Wilson v. Johns-Manville Sales Corp., 684 F.2d 111, 119 (DC Cir. 1982). *Id.* at 1365.

Our Court then went on to note unfairness would result if

Plaintiffs who are not exhibiting any actual physical harm but are facing the running of the limitations period [were] forced to bring an action for injuries that may or may not occur in the future.

*Id.* at 1366. Our Court then noted in passing that “many of these plaintiffs will be unable to produce the necessary evidence to show that the future harm is more likely to occur than not.” *Id.* at 1366. This passing comment should not be interpreted as precedent for the proposition that a claim for enhanced risk of cancer recurrence is not actionable in Utah. On the contrary, it merely suggests that a claim for enhanced risk of cancer recurrence is sometimes difficult for plaintiffs to prove.

Seale does appear to support the proposition that if a man had been exposed to a toxic chemical which has been shown to cause cancer but has suffered no ill effects from the exposure, he could not bring a cause of action for enhanced risk of cancer. Under Seale, he would have to have actually

contracted cancer before the claim would arise. If, however, as a result of exposure to the toxic chemical, the man became ill, lost work and/or required significant medical treatment and expenditure, then he could seek his actual damages for his current illness and also seek damages for his enhanced risk of cancer if he could prove it was “more likely than not” to manifest itself.

Nothing in our Supreme Court’s opinion in Seale v. Gowans, *supra*, is inconsistent with preexisting law that if one pleads an actual, present injury, one may also plead future damages that are reasonably probable to occur. In *Seale*, our Court expressly stated “once some harm is manifest, the limitations period begins to run on all claims, present and future.” *Id.* at 923 P.2d at 1364. There, unlike here, Ms. Seale claimed no injury until cancer recurred in her hip. Our Court found that the last event necessary to complete the cause of action was the recurrence of cancer and, therefore, it was that event that initiated the running of the statute of limitations.

Utah’s legislature has included in our Health Care Malpractice Act a four-year statute of repose, along with a two-year statute of limitations. In Utah, no cause of action for medical malpractice can be entertained more than 4 years after the date of the alleged malpractice. UCA §78-14-4(1). If a woman who has

had to endure extensive cancer treatment for the spread of a malignancy which could have been prevented by appropriate medical treatment has to wait until she suffers recurrence of cancer before she may file suit, the recurrence may recur more than 4 years after the original negligence. She would be prevented from bringing an action. That would be a travesty of justice. Under that circumstance, her claim would be time-barred and she would be afforded no relief whatsoever.

An “enhanced risk” of future harm may be considered “speculative” in the absence of actual present harm or injury, but that does not render a claim for future damages arising out of such enhanced risk inactionable when there has been actual injury. Our Supreme Court has never declared that a person with a present harm may not also claim a future harm.

In Utah, juries are instructed all the time that they may assess future damages. See, e.g., MUJI Instruction 27.2, 27.3 and 27.5 <sup>4</sup>

The chance of recurrence is a question of probability. A jury is provided statistical information from which it may make an informed decision. Jurors routinely are asked to decide whether an automobile collision victim’s orthopedic injury will result in arthritis in the future. They frequently make decisions based

---

<sup>4</sup> These instructions are attached as Exhibit “5.”

on competent medical testimony and generally accepted statistical probability. Though cancer is far more serious than arthritis, juries are competent to assess the probability of future harm in such cases just as they do in orthopedic injury cases.

In short, the Utah Supreme Court's decision in Seale v. Gowans was misunderstood and misapplied by this Court in Medved and by the district court in this case.

### III.

**DISMISSAL WITHOUT PREJUDICE WOULD HAVE BEEN FAIR IN THIS ACTION ONLY IF ACCOMPANIED BY AN EXPRESS JUDICIAL DECLARATION THAT THE SNOWS MAY REFILE THEIR ACTION AT ANY TIME, WHETHER OR NOT CANCER RECURS, WITHOUT BEING AT RISK FOR HAVING THEIR CLAIM DECLARED TIME-BARRED.**

A claim for actual, already sustained damages resulting from the negligence of another may not be rendered inactionable by its joinder with a claim for enhanced risk of sustaining future damages. *Even if* under Medved a claim for heightened risk of cancer recurrence *were* no longer *ever* actionable in Utah, a plaintiff still has a right to pursue a claim for present damages independent of the heightened risk of cancer recurrence. To hold otherwise would be contrary to

our rules of pleadings.

It is within the province of a plaintiff to declare what her claim is. Neither the district court nor this Court has the right to preclude Mrs. Snow from pursuing an action to recover damages for present and past injury merely because she also seeks damages for a heightened risk of future injury.

In ¶10 of the *Medved* decision, this Court declares:

***Seale* preserves plaintiff's claim for actual damages until speculative damages become actual damages.**

(2004 WL 1065503 at p.4, ¶10). Unless this assertion is given full, liberal interpretation, the rest of the *Medved* decision could work a terrible injustice. Assume, for example, this Court dismissed the pending court case without prejudice. Assume further that five years go by without a manifestation of any further cancer symptoms in Mrs. Snow. Assume that the Snows, believing the chances of further cancer troubles have diminished, decide then to proceed with their claim for the damages they have already sustained as a result of Dr. Irion's negligence. Will the new complaint they file at that time be actionable? Without this court expressly declaring now that the statute of limitations is indefinitely suspended, any dismissal without prejudice will be potentially illusory. A truly non prejudicial dismissal requires a concomitant express suspension of both the

two year statute of limitations and the four year statute of repose<sup>5</sup> pertaining to the Snows' claims<sup>6</sup>.

#### IV.

#### **THE FAIREST COURSE WOULD BE TO REVERSE THE DISTRICT COURT'S GRANT OF DISMISSAL AND TO ALLOW THE SNOWS TO PURSUE THEIR CLAIM AT A SPEED APPROPRIATE TO MRS. SNOW'S CONDITION.**

If this Court were to affirm dismissal of the Snows' complaint without prejudice and the Snows were to thereafter file a new action seeking all of their damages except those directly relating to the heightened risk of cancer recurrence, dismissal of the new action would likely be sought on the ground that the limitations period had run. As of now, over two years have elapsed since Mr. and Mrs. Snow discovered Dr. Irion's negligence and harm flowing from it.

---

<sup>5</sup> UCA §78-14-4 (1)

<sup>6</sup> The *Medved* decision highlights but only partially addresses the troublesome problem facing claimants who have sustained both actual and "speculative" damages in a case involving risk of cancer recurrence. *Medved* seems to suggest a plaintiff having both actual and "speculative" damages may safely hold her claim for actual damages in abeyance without fear of the statute of limitations running against her until the feared cancer recurs. If the feared cancer does not recur, however, it is not clear whether her present claim for actual damages will be barred if she holds off filing it longer than two years.

Bringing a new action for past harm might well be viewed as violating the statute of limitations.

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