2004

Marion Snow and Roger Snow v. Richard A. Irion, M.D. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. This case comes before the Court as a straightforward application of the definition of “legal injury” as set forth by Utah Supreme Court in Seale v. Gowans, 923 P.2d 1361 (Utah 1996). Seale is a policy-based decision holding that cancer patients seeking damages for a worse statistical prognosis of remaining cancer free because of a delay in diagnosis do not have a legal injury unless or until there is a recurrence of cancer. Seale prevents litigation over speculative claims that may never arise. It is undisputed that Mrs. Snow has not had a recurrence of cancer. Based on Seale, the trial court correctly dismissed the Snows’ claims without prejudice.

II. The Snows cannot circumvent Seale and proceed with a speculative claim for damages based on enhanced risk of future cancer because, like the plaintiff in Seale, there is no allegation of any current legal injury.

Moreover, even if the Snows had alleged actual injury (which they do not), dismissal is still appropriate under Medved v. Glenn, 2004 UT App. 161, 92 P.3d 176, which holds that a medical malpractice plaintiff cannot proceed with a claim for heightened risk of cancer recurrence simply because they concurrently allege actual damages.

III. The Snows’ contention of “unfairness” is both one-sided and insufficient to allow the trial court to ignore the binding Utah precedent articulated in Seale, which requires dismissal of the Snows’ loss of chance claims. The Snows’ requests to indefinitely suspend the statute of limitations, or in the alternative to indefinitely allow the case to

remain on file so they can pursue it if it ever ripens, are without basis in law and the trial court correctly denied them.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DISMISSED THE SNOWS' CLAIMS WITHOUT PREJUDICE UNDER SEALE V. GOWANS.

In this medical malpractice lawsuit, the Snows claim Dr. Irion failed to properly diagnose and treat Mrs. Snow's ovarian cancer. (R. at 9-15.) The Snows seek damages for the heightened risk that Mrs. Snow's cancer will return and for the risk that she potentially has a shortened life expectancy. (R. at 11-13.) It is uncontroverted that Mrs. Snow's cancer treatment has been successful, (R. at 11), and "there has been no diagnosis of 'recurrent cancer' since Marion's second surgery on August 13, 2002." (R. at 57.) Given these facts, the sole question presented before the trial court and on appeal is whether the Snows' claim of increased risk is an actual present injury sufficient to sustain their claims of injury against Dr. Irion.³ Under Utah law, it is not.

Utah does not recognize loss of chance or statistically increased risk of injury as a basis for recovery. Seale v. Gowans, 923 P.2d 1361, 1364 (Utah 1996); see also Medved v. Glenn, 2004 UT App. 161, ¶ 5, 92 P.3d at 178;⁴ Andersen v. Brigham Young

³ Mr. Snow seeks loss of consortium damages, which is by statute a derivative claim subject to all of the same defenses as his wife's underlying negligence claim. Utah Code Ann. § 30-2-11 (1998).

⁴ The Snows seek reversal of the trial court's decision on the contention that Medved is unfair, erroneous and inconsistent with Seale v. Gowans, 923 P.2d 1361 (Utah

University, 879 F. Supp. 1124, 1129-30 (D. Utah 1995), aff'd, 89 F.3d 849 (10th Cir. 1996). The Utah Supreme Court has made clear that “an alleged claim for enhanced risk is not adequate to sustain a cause of action for negligence.” Seale, 923 P.2d at 1365.

More specifically,

the law does not recognize an inchoate wrong, and therefore, until there is “actual loss or damage resulting to the interests of another,” a claim for negligence is not actionable.

Id. at 1364.

In this case, the trial court correctly dismissed the Snows’ claims without prejudice under Seale v. Gowans. In Seale, the plaintiff had a mammogram in August 1987, which was read as negative by a radiologist, defendant Dr. Gowans. In May of 1988, the plaintiff had another mammogram which revealed a breast mass. A needle biopsy of the mass disclosed that it was cancerous. A retrospective review of the 1987 mammogram indicated evidence of the breast tumor. The plaintiff had a radical mastectomy and pathological studies revealed a second malignant tumor and cancer in her lymph nodes. All of the cancer was removed and Ms. Seale remained cancer free until August 1991 at which time a bone scan revealed cancer in her left hip. Id. at 1362.

The plaintiff immediately commenced litigation against Dr. Gowans and Holy Cross Hospital, alleging that negligent delay in diagnosing her cancer had allowed the

1996). (Aplt. Br. at 8-9.) The Utah Supreme Court granted certiorari on the Medved decision in August 2004. Oral argument was held March 1, 2005. No decision has yet been issued. The outcome of the Supreme Court’s review of Medved is, however, not dispositive of this appeal, as Seale alone supports the trial court’s dismissal in this case.

cancer to spread to her hip. The defendants sought and were awarded summary judgment on the basis that Ms. Seale had failed to commence her action within two years from the date she discovered negligence by Dr. Gowans and the hospital. The Utah Supreme Court reversed this ruling, holding that Ms. Seale had suffered no injury until she discovered the recurrence of cancer in her hip in August of 1991. Id. at 1364.

In the context of the statute of limitations argument, the Seale court held that until there is a recurrence of cancer, there is no legally cognizable injury. Id. at 1365. Clearly, if there is no legal injury sufficient to start the running of the statute of limitation until there has been a recurrence, there can be no legal injury sufficient to support a medical negligence claim absent a recurrence. The language in Seale is unambiguous on this point:

[W]e find that defendants failed to prove that Ms. Seale suffered a legally cognizable injury when she discovered that the cancer had spread to her lymph nodes. The only evidence that defendants produced regarding the harmful consequence of the cancer's spread was that it increased the risk that the cancer would recur. They failed to argue or to produce evidence that in 1988, Ms. Seale could complain of any actual present damages. Although we agree that the cancer's spread resulted in a dramatic increase in Ms. Seale's chance of survival, we conclude that without proof of actual damages, an alleged claim for enhanced risk is not adequate to sustain a cause of action for negligence.

Id. at 1364-65 (emphasis added). Further, "even though there exists a possibility, even a probability, of future harm, it is not enough to sustain a claim, and a plaintiff must wait until some harm manifests itself." Id. at 1364.

In this case, the Snows cannot establish they have suffered a legally cognizable injury giving rise to a claim. Fortunately, Mrs. Snow's cancer remains in remission and

she has not suffered a recurrence. (R. at 11 & 57.) Even if there is, for the sake of argument, a statistical possibility or even probability of recurrence, enhanced risk is insufficient to sustain a claim at this point. Seale, 923 P.2d at 1364.⁵ As with the plaintiff in Seale, Mrs. Snow “must wait until some harm manifests itself.” Id. Until then, the Snows’ claims are premature and legally insufficient to establish a claim of medical negligence.⁶ Their action was thus correctly dismissed without prejudice. Any other ruling would have been directly contrary to established Utah law.

Indeed, carving an exception into Seale to save the Snows’ claims in this case would have a far-reaching impact and would obviate medical negligence claims of other would-be plaintiffs. Seale has been controlling law in Utah for eight years. Plaintiffs’ lawyers in this state have relied on Seale and made informed decisions not to initiate litigation in cases involving delayed cancer diagnosis until there has been a recurrence of cancer, and trial courts have relied on Seale to dismiss cases alleging damages for increased risk. If Seale were now interpreted to mean that there is cognizable legal injury before a recurrence,

⁵ See also Andersen, 879 F. Supp. 1124 (plaintiff diagnosed with Hodgkin’s Disease asserted 6-month delay in diagnosis caused reduction in his chance of survival, and the federal district court concluded Utah law “has not adopted a separate cause of action permitting recovering for the reduction of a statistical chance of long-term survival”)

⁶ The Snows contend that if the trial court is affirmed and their causes of action remain dismissed without prejudice, the statute of limitations and the statute of repose jeopardize their claims. (Aplt. Br. at 15-17.) Neither the statute of limitations nor the statute of repose are issues in this case. Whether the statute of limitations or the statute of repose could or would preclude any of the Snows’ claims is purely speculative. Dr. Irion did not argue either of these statutes as a basis for his Motion to Dismiss. Additionally, if there is no recurrence, there can be no claim that could be subject to either the statute of limitations or the statute of repose. These issues are unripe, were not decided by the trial court, and are not before this Court on appeal.

thus allowing plaintiffs to proceed with claims of heightened risk prior to a recurrence, then the claims of many of the plaintiffs who either conscientiously forewent commencing suit, or whose claims were dismissed by the court, would be lost as time-barred. There is no justification to upset the carefully balanced precedent of Seale and to prove those potential plaintiffs, their lawyers and the courts wrong, simply to create the exception which the Snows seek.

POINT II.

UTAH LAW DOES NOT ALLOW THE SNOWS TO PROCEED ON THEIR SPECULATIVE DAMAGE CLAIM SIMPLY BECAUSE THEY ALSO CLAIM TO ALLEGE ACTUAL DAMAGES.

The Snows contend they should be permitted to proceed because, in addition to their claim of damage for a heightened risk of cancer recurrence, they also allege actual injury. (Aplt. Br. at 4 & 6-7.) The “actual injury” claimed by the Snows in this case is: loss of income, impairment of earning capacity, medical costs, “pain, grief, mental anguish, depression, emotional distress and loss of enjoyment of life,” “permanent injury that has substantially changed her lifestyle,” inability to perform household and spousal activities, and a diminution of their quality of life. (Id.)

A. THE SNOWS DO NOT ALLEGE ACTUAL INJURY.

Foremost, the Snows’ allegations of damages do not qualify as an allegation of present actual injury. Utah courts have required plaintiffs asserting a claim of medical malpractice to prove:

1) the standard of care required of physicians under similar circumstances practicing in the same field or specialty, (2) that the applicable standard of care was breached, (3) that the injury to the plaintiff was proximately caused by the defendant's negligence, and (4) that damages occurred as a result of defendant's breach of duty.

Kent v. Pioneer Valley Hosp. 930 P.2d 904, 906 (Utah Ct. App. 1997) (emphasis added). Allegations of “injury”⁷ and “damages” are thus separately required.

Here, the Snows fail to allege an actionable injury.⁸ The gravamen of the negligent conduct alleged is that Dr. Irion failed to timely diagnose the presence of the cyst preoperatively, ruptured Mrs. Snow’s cyst during surgery and thereby “seeded” cancer cells in her abdomen, and failed to timely inform Mrs. Snow regarding the cancer. (R. at 13.) None of these things, however, caused Mrs. Snow actual injury because she is in remission. Thus, substantively at issue is the Snows’ claim that these things caused Mrs. Snow a heightened risk of recurrence. (R. at 11-13.)

It must be remembered, Dr. Irion did not give Mrs. Snow cancer. Mrs. Snow needed treatment for her cancer irrespective of Dr. Irion’s care, and all of the “actual damages” sought in this lawsuit are attendant to her cancer treatment. The Snows have not alleged any different treatment, or additional injury, due to Dr. Irion’s allegedly

⁷ “Personal injury” is defined as “a hurt or damage done to a man’s person, such as a cut or bruise, a broken limb, or the like” Black’s Law Dictionary 402 (6th ed. 1990).

⁸ In this respect, this case is analogous to Seale. Like the present case, the Seale plaintiff did not allege actual injury. Seale, 923 P.2d at 1365. Thus, even if the Utah Supreme Court were to remand the Medved decision, this Court need not reverse in this case as it is well-supported by Seale.

substandard care. There is no allegation that Mrs. Snow suffered physical detriment, was required to undergo more invasive treatment, or had any other actual injury other than the alleged decreased risk of long term survival, because of Dr. Irion's alleged negligence.

The so-called "injuries" claimed by the Snows, i.e., loss of income, impairment of earning capacity, medical costs, pain, emotional distress, inability to perform household and spousal activities, etc., are not actual injuries due to allegedly substandard care by Dr. Irion.⁹ Evaluation of the substance of these allegations demonstrate they are really a measure of damages flowing from Mrs. Snow's cancer treatment generally, and the Snows' claimed heightened risk of recurrence.

Thus, like Seale, the Snows have failed to allege actual present damages, Seale, 923 P.2d at 1365, and their lawsuit was appropriately dismissed. If a plaintiff were permitted to avoid the substantive effects of Seale simply by denominating damages as legal injury, the Seale holding would become a nullity. Indeed, the result would be the very thing which the Seale court sought to avoid: (1) ambiguity in determining whether and when a cause of action arises, and (2) increasing speculative lawsuits. Seale, 923 P.2d at 1366.

⁹ Indeed, in Seale, Ms. Seale would have had all of the same "general damages" alleged here by the Snows, yet the Utah Supreme Court did not deem them to constitute a legal injury sufficient to start the running of the statute of limitations. Indeed, the Seale court held that the spread of cancer to Ms. Seale's lymph nodes did not even amount to "a legally cognizable injury." Seale, 923 P.2d at 1364-65.

B. EVEN IF THE SNOWS HAD ALLEGED ACTUAL INJURY, UTAH LAW WOULD STILL NOT ALLOW THEM TO PROCEED WITH THEIR SPECULATIVE CLAIM FOR HEIGHTENED RISK.

Even if the Snows had alleged an actual current legal injury, their argument that this should allow them to assert a speculative claim for enhanced risk of future cancer still fails. It violates the well-established prohibition on splitting actual and speculative claims, and is directly contrary to the holdings in both Seale and Medved. Under Utah law, “claims cannot be split by plaintiffs.” Seale, 923 P.2d at 1364. The Utah Supreme Court has made clear:

[o]nce injury results there is but a single tort and not a series of separate torts [A] plaintiff may not split this cause of action by seeking damages for some of his injuries in one suit and for later-developing injuries in another.

Seale, 923 P.2d at 1364.

Requiring plaintiffs to bring all claims relating to medical negligence in one suit has sound basis in policy. It assures plaintiffs are not forced to file premature lawsuits on the chance of a recurrence of cancer, while still protecting plaintiffs from the argument that awareness of speculative or minor injury starts the statute running and precludes a later claim when the recurrence manifests a real and substantial injury. The Seale court stated:

[M]any of these plaintiffs will be unable to produce the necessary evidence to show that the future harm is more likely to occur than not. Yet, if the harm, such as the recurrence of cancer, later occurs, the plaintiff would be precluded from any recovery for devastating injuries by reason of having acquired an earlier claim for purely speculative ones. We believe that the better approach is to wait until the potential harm

manifests itself, allowing for more certain proof and fewer speculative lawsuits.

Seale, 923 P.2d at 1366.

In Medved, this Court examined Seale and the prohibition on claim-splitting, and expressly precluded the plaintiff from pursuing her speculative damage claim of heightened risk even though she also alleged actual injury. The Medved plaintiff alleged both actual and speculative damages arising from a single claim of medical malpractice. Medved, 2004 UT App. 161, ¶ 3, 92 P.3d at 178. Specifically, the Medved plaintiff alleged that her delayed cancer diagnoses “caused her to undergo more extensive treatment than necessary” (actual injury), and also “left her with an increased risk of cancer recurrence.”

Id.

Just as the Snows do here, the Medved plaintiff “point[ed] to language from Seale for the proposition that she may maintain a claim for the risk of cancer recurrence if she also presently claims actual damage.” Medved, 2004 UT App. 161, ¶ 8, 92 P.3d at 179. The Medved Court expressly rejected this contention, stating: “Plaintiff’s reliance upon Seale for [this] position is misplaced. Seale clearly stands for the proposition that speculative claims are not allowed under Utah law.” Id. The Medved court held:

Because both actual and speculative claims arising from a single tort cannot be split, we conclude that the trial court correctly dismissed Plaintiff’s action without prejudice.

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